

Notice of a meeting of Council

Monday, 7 October 2013 2.30 pm Council Chamber, Municipal Offices

	Membership
Councillors:	Colin Hay, Wendy Flynn (Chair), Andrew Chard, Garth Barnes, Ian Bickerton, Nigel Britter, Chris Coleman, Barbara Driver, Bernard Fisher, Jacky Fletcher, Rob Garnham, Les Godwin, Penny Hall, Tim Harman, Rowena Hay, Diane Hibbert, Sandra Holliday, Peter Jeffries, Steve Jordan, Andrew Lansley, Paul Massey, Helena McCloskey, Andrew McKinlay, Paul McLain, David Prince, John Rawson, Anne Regan, Rob Reid, Chris Ryder, Diggory Seacome, Duncan Smith, Malcolm Stennett, Charles Stewart, Klara Sudbury, Pat Thornton, Jon Walklett, Andrew Wall, Simon Wheeler (Vice-Chair), Roger Whyborn and Suzanne Williams

Agenda

1.	APOLOGIES	
2.	DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	
3.	MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING	(Pages
	5 September 2013	1 - 28)
4.	COMMUNICATIONS BY THE MAYOR	
5.	COMMUNICATIONS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL	
6.	PUBLIC QUESTIONS	
	These must be received no later than 12 noon on the fourth working	
	day before the date of the meeting	
7.	MEMBER QUESTIONS	
8.	PETITION RECEIVED ON THE CHELTENHAM TRANSPORT PLAN	(Pages
	**Please note that the debate on a petition received on the 23 August	29 - 40)
	2013 has now been postponed to the special Council meeting	
	scheduled for Monday 18 November at the request of the petitioner **	

9.	NOTICES OF MOTION None have been received by the deadline.	
10.	TO RECEIVE PETITIONS	
11.	ANY OTHER ITEM THE MAYOR DETERMINES AS URGENT AND WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION	
12.	LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 -EXEMPT INFORMATION The Council is recommended to approve the following resolution:-	
	"That in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining agenda items as it is likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if members of the public are present there will be disclosed to them exempt information as defined in paragraph 3, Part (1) Schedule (12A) Local Government Act 1972, namely:	
	Paragraph 3; Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)	
13.	ST PAUL'S PHASE TWO	(Pages
	Report of the Cabinet Member Housing and Safety	41 - 48)
14.	ICT NETWORK ISSUE Report of the Cabinet Member Corporate Services	

Contact Officer: Rosalind Reeves, Democratic Services Manager, 01242 774937 Email: <u>democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk</u>

> Andrew North Chief Executive

Agenda Item 3

Page 1

Council

Thursday, 5th September, 2013 2.30 - 7.00 pm

Attendees	
Councillors:	 Wendy Flynn (Chair), Colin Hay, Andrew Chard, Garth Barnes, Ian Bickerton, Nigel Britter, Chris Coleman, Barbara Driver, Bernard Fisher, Jacky Fletcher, Rob Garnham, Les Godwin, Penny Hall, Tim Harman, Rowena Hay, Diane Hibbert, Peter Jeffries, Steve Jordan, Paul Massey, Helena McCloskey, Andrew McKinlay, David Prince, John Rawson, Anne Regan, Rob Reid, Chris Ryder, Diggory Seacome, Duncan Smith, Malcolm Stennett, Charles Stewart, Klara Sudbury, Pat Thornton, Jon Walklett, Andrew Wall, Simon Wheeler (Vice-Chair) and Roger Whyborn

Minutes

1. APOLOGIES

Apologies had been received from Councillors Holliday, Lansley, McLain and Williams.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Chard declared an interest as a member of Leckhampton and Warden Hill Parish Council.

Councillors Coleman, Fisher, Harman, Colin Hay, Prince, Sudbury and Wheeler all declared interests as members of Gloucestershire County Council and indicated that they had been granted dispensations from the Standards Committee to participate and vote in the meeting.

Councillors Fletcher and Stennett declared an interest as directors of Gloucestershire Airport if it should come up during the debate.

Councillor Garnham declared a pecuniary interest as he had a commercial relationship with Hunter Page Planning Ltd, Cheltenham who were the planning agents for the site identified as Policy A4 - North Brockworth Urban Extension and his company, Mediation in Planning Ltd, was paid by the owners of this particular site.

Councillor McLain had declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of the GCC Executive and therefore had absented himself from the meeting.

Councillor Regan declared an interest as a member of Leckhampton and Warden Hill Parish Council.

Councillor Ryder declared a potential pecuniary interest in the Leckhampton White Land and therefore would leave the chamber for the rest of the meeting.

Councillor Sudbury declared an interest as a member of LEGLAG.

Councillor Whyborn declared an interest in matters relating to Leckhampton as the Cabinet Member responsible for sustainability.

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The minutes of the last meeting held on 22 July were agreed as a correct record subject to Councillor Driver wishing it recorded that she could not agree the minutes because they included additional information regarding a response provided after the Council meeting in relation to Member Questions.

4. COMMUNICATIONS BY THE MAYOR

The Mayor welcomed the public to the meeting and explained how she would be running the meeting.

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS

1.	Question from Mr Kit Braunholtz to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	Are Councillors and Officers aware that the urban extension at Leckhampton proposed in the draft JCS lies immediately adjacent to the Cotswold AONB boundary, and will therefore inevitably have a damaging impact on the Cotswold AONB setting, particularly so as it lies immediately below Leckhampton Hill with its renowned views? Are they further aware that this is contrary to Policy S7 on page 65 of the draft JCS which states that "Development proposals in and adjacent to the Cotswold AONB will be required to conserve and enhance its landscape and scenic beauty"? And are they still further aware that at least three Planning Inspectors who have previously considered possible large-scale development on this land have recommended against such development largely because of the effect it would have on the landscape and views?
	Response from Cabinet Member
	The Council is well aware of the sensitivity of the location of this proposed urban extension. It will ensure that the JCS takes full account of that sensitivity as it moves forward towards adoption. The council does not accept the contention that the proposed urban extension is contrary to draft policy S7, rather it should help to ensure that any future development in this location carefully considers potential impacts on the setting of the AONB, including key views. Policy A6 sets out development requirements for this urban extension and in so doing acknowledges the need for proposals to have regard to landscape sensitivity including taking account of flood risk and providing for a sizeable green landscape buffer is proposed along the eastern and southern edge of development. Policy A6 states that higher density

	Personance from Cabinet Member
	Response from Cabinet MemberCheltenham Borough Council undertook an independent peer review of household formation rates overseen by a member scrutiny task group. The conclusions of this work have informed the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) which establishes the housing need for the JCS. Details are set out in the report undertaken by consultants Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research. Assumptions are made within this work about population growth including levels of household formation, unemployment, economic activity and commuting.The OAN for the JCS does not assume that the past household growth rate will remain constant, but that over the plan period there will be some return to previous trends where younger and older people form separate households and that the economy, to some degree recovers.
	The consultants' report is available for scrutiny on the JCS website <u>www.gct-jcs.org</u>
	The plan is based upon a detailed evidence base, reflects Government policy and is presented within the context of delivering a sound plan to a future public examination.
	Clearly there are concerns about whether the OAN is too high and the methodology for the calculation will be a key subject of the planned consultation.
2	
3.	Question from Ms Margaret White to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
J.	
3.	Councillor Steve Jordan In the previous JCS Public Consultation, the majority of the public and organisations who submitted a response were in favour of scenario A,
3.	Councillor Steve Jordan In the previous JCS Public Consultation, the majority of the public and organisations who submitted a response were in favour of scenario A, with a housing target of 16,200. How can the JCS justify doubling the numbers? Can the Council please give a breakdown of exactly how the housing target is calculated; which ONS population projection is used, and the average household size for each of the three districts? Please can the actual numbers with references be provided.
<u> </u>	Councillor Steve Jordan In the previous JCS Public Consultation, the majority of the public and organisations who submitted a response were in favour of scenario A, with a housing target of 16,200. How can the JCS justify doubling the numbers? Can the Council please give a breakdown of exactly how the housing target is calculated; which ONS population projection is used, and the average household size for each of the three districts? Please can the actual numbers with references be provided. Response from Cabinet Member
3.	Councillor Steve Jordan In the previous JCS Public Consultation, the majority of the public and organisations who submitted a response were in favour of scenario A, with a housing target of 16,200. How can the JCS justify doubling the numbers? Can the Council please give a breakdown of exactly how the housing target is calculated; which ONS population projection is used, and the average household size for each of the three districts? Please can the actual numbers with references be provided.

	Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research (see response to question 2).
	In a supplementary question, Ms White indicated that the ONS had only intended their figures to be used on a temporary basis. If this was the case why was the council using incorrect figures and basing its projections on a 2 year period rather than 10 years.
	In response the Leader advised that the figures would be scrutinised thoroughly during the next phase and the public would be informed of the outcome.
4.	Question from Ms Margaret White to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	Given the election pledges by the Lib/Dem in May 2012, does the proposed JCS demonstrate a change of policy for the Liberal Democrat Party and should the public have been given notice for May 2013 before policy implementation?
	For reference, extract from the Liberal Democrat Manifesto for Cheltenham, March 2012.
	"We want an economically successful town that provides jobs for all – but not one which sacrifices its environmental quality by sprawling beyond its current boundaries and into the Green Belt. We need housing for local people – we need to be careful to control the amount of "market" housing available, so that we avoid sucking in people in significant numbers from the rest of the UK and Europe."
	And the first major aims in the future – March 2012:
	<i>"1. To resist urban sprawl while securing new development, economic growth and jobs – and sufficient units of social housing for local people – targeted on "brownland" sites within the existing urban area while continuing to protect significant urban green spaces including gardens."</i>
	Response from Cabinet Member
	This is not the plan that any of us wanted to see. Certainly in the Liberal Democrats we wanted to be able to manage population growth in the Cheltenham area and therefore protect the Green Belt. For a while the Government's localism agenda gave us reason to hope we could do that.
	However, the publication of the final version of the National Planning Policy Framework dashed those hopes. Paragraph 14 of the NPPF mandates councils to "prepare Local Plans on the basis that objectively assessed development needs should be met, and with sufficient flexibility to respond to rapid shifts in demand or other economic changes."
	Paragraph 28 says plans must "meet household and population projections, taking account of migration and demographic change".
	The upshot of this is that we have to prepare plans which don't manage

	population growth, demographic change and economic growth. They simply respond to projections of what these changes will be.
	Liberal Democrats are committed as far as possible to developing brownfield sites first. However, the Planning Minister Nick Boles has recently confirmed that, in the Government's view, meeting the assessed need takes priority over protecting the Green Belt.
	We need to bear in mind that the JCS has to go through an examination by planning inspectors and will not be accepted unless it meets the Government's policy requirements. It would therefore appear inevitable that some areas will need to be removed from Green Belt to allow for planned urban extensions. The JCS limits the loss to 15 per cent of the total Green Belt in the period up to 2031 and a further 4 per cent thereafter. It retains a substantial buffer of green land between Cheltenham and Gloucester in the west and Cheltenham and Bishops Cleeve in the north. It is deeply regrettable that there should be any loss of Green Belt, but we have to recognise that the NPPF limits our freedom of action.
5.	Question from Mr David Pitts to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	Can Cheltenham Borough Council please provide the number of affordable homes and the number of social homes factored into the JCS Housing targets?
	Response from Cabinet Member
	This will be set out in Strategic Housing Market Assessment, still to be finalised. The intention is that this will be published in time for the proposed public consultation starting on 15 th October 2013 and the findings will be incorporated into the pre submission version of the JCS.
6.	Question from Mr David Pitts to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	We do need affordable apartments/flats for first time buyers. What efforts have the local Council taken to bring back into occupancy the empty flats above shops in the town? How many of them are there? The Haines & Strange project development is an excellent example of town development and has been put forward for a CPRE award.
	Response from Cabinet Member
	It is entirely true that affordability is a big issue in Cheltenham and market forces are unlikely the ever resolve this. Cheltenham's popularity as a location means new housing is likely to attract new people to the area rather than resolve affordability issues for local people. In addition to developing the affordability policy in the JCS, possible policy interventions to tackle the issue along the lines suggested will be considered in the Cheltenham Plan.
7.	Question from Mr Barry Simon to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan

	Has the Joint Core Strategy used Office of National Statistics long term forecasts of population growth throughout in calculating anticipated population increase in the JCS area?
	Response from Cabinet Member
	The baseline for the JCS calculations is the interim 2011-based subnational population projections for England.
	In a supplementary question Mr Simon asked why the JCS was using a statistical basis that ONS themselves had stated was not suitable for this purpose.
	The Leader indicated that the council had taken expert advice but they would be happy to review this aspect as part of the consultation and include a response in the final document.
8.	Question from Mr Pat Alexander to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	According to page 23 of the document, Gloucestershire Local Transport plan 2011-2026, between 15,000 & 20,000 vehicles flow along the A46 highway on average every day. This is evidenced by regular tailbacks over 1 mile in length entering the outskirts of Cheltenham during morning & evening commuting periods. The direct result of these traffic flows is that the levels of Nitrogen Dioxide in Shurdington Road have breached National limits during March 2011. Bath Road and Hatherley Way are also known to produce similar results according the Council spreadsheet "NO2_data2012".
	On page 45 of this document, the principles and policies of the LTP include the following requirement:
	P5d "The County will comply with any statutory duty it may have in future in
	respect of air or noise pollution resulting from traffic on the highway authority network."
	P5e "Through the planning process, developers and scheme promoters will be required to undertake assessments to determine if their development or scheme will be subject to or create poor air quality or noise in excess of the thresholds as advised by Government and to commit to mitigating those
	effects." Therefore, in the interests of the health of local residents, are the
	Councillors minded to reject the JCS plans on the basis that, should there be 1,802 new dwellings built in the environs of this section of the A46, air pollution levels are inevitably going to breach National targets?
	Response from Cabinet Member

-	
	The Local Transport Plan requires developers to assess the impact of their proposals in terms of air quality and noise, and to mitigate any anticipated effects. There is no evidence (a) that atmospheric pollution from development in this area will breach national thresholds or (b) that any atmospheric pollution potentially arising that may breach national thresholds cannot be mitigated.
	Any concerns can be raised during the proposed consultation.
	In a supplementary question Mr Alexander asked what mitigating actions would be required of developers to try and reduce the air pollution levels to below national limits.
	The Leader advised that he was not able to answer this question at this time but would be happy to provide a detailed response as part of the consultation process if not before.
9.	Question from Ms Alice Ross to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	How on earth is any meaningful conclusion as to the feasibility of the JCS proposals to be reached by the public and by Councillors alike if, as I see from paragraph 2.8 of the document under discussion, that the critical sections on Infrastructure and Transport Modelling have not yet been completed?
	Response from Cabinet Member
	It is accepted that there still exists gaps in the evidence base, this is being addressed. The intension is to publish the Infrastructure Development Plan before the start of the proposed consultation on 15 th October 2013. Any amendments needed will be incorporated into the pre submission version of the JCS.
	Detailed transport modelling has yet to be carried out. However there has been ongoing engagement with Gloucestershire Highways. This engagement has both informed the transport policies of the draft JCS together with the policies on strategic allocations and urban extensions.
	While the draft JCS document is as complete as currently possible, the proposed consultation in October/November 2013 is non-statutory. There will be statutory consultation on the 'final' version of the JCS once it is published in March 2014.
	In a supplementary question, Ms Ross asked when exactly would the infrastructure and transport modelling documents be available to the public, not to mention other missing links such as the sustainability and viability appraisals and health impact assessment, and should these not have formed the basis of any proposals rather than being tacked on as an afterthought?
	The Leader indicated that all the figures would be reviewed as these documents became available.

10.	Question from Mrs Jacky Potter to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	If analysis by the Highway Authority of the highway consequences of the proposed Strategic sites at Leckhampton, Shurdington and Brockworth, all of which lie on, or close to, the A46 Shurdington Road shows that unacceptably high congestion and/or air pollution will result at one or more points on the A46, which seems highly likely, will some or all of these proposed sites be removed from the strategy, as being undeliverable? (see Policy D3 (p117) of the draft JCS).
	Response from Cabinet Member
	Having regard to the answer provided to question 8, this will depend upon the feasibility – in environmental as well as financial terms - of any measures that may be required to mitigate impacts that may be identified. As set out in my answer to question 9, there has been ongoing engagement with Gloucestershire Highways.
11.	Question from Mrs Jacky Potter to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	The public perception is that developers are targeting greenfield sites first to maximise profits, with large, well advanced applications for the NW Cheltenham Greenbelt and Leckhampton. The real concern is that this JCS emerging evidence of >24% growth in housing (33,200), voted through for public consultation by all three councils, combined with named strategic sites, will enable applicants to push through unsustainable planning applications. Can CBC give assurances that these planning applications will be sensibly phased, divided into manageable projects, that time is given for the vital sustainability work and that planning committees are fully briefed on the JCS Policy.
	Response from Cabinet Member
	 Whilst it is a matter for developers to submit proposals as and when they see fit, the JCS will set out the phasing of major development sites it proposes. The JCS is subject to Sustainability Appraisal and any major development proposals will be required to be accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment. Members dealing with planning applications will be fully briefed on JCS policies within the context of any formation applications.
12.	future planning applications. Question from Mrs Helen Wells to Leader of the Council, Councillor
	Steve Jordan
	The NPPF Section 9, Protecting the Green Belt Land, clearly states that the Green Belt is to PREVENT URBAN SPRAWL, and to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas, and that planning authorities should promote development towards urban areas, inside the Green Belt boundaries. Why is this authority proposing to build a huge development, for 5,000 homes, to the north west of Cheltenham ,on prime agricultural land,

	which in itself is the equivalent to a new town the size of Tewkesbury, without any support infra-structure in place, which makes it totally unsustainable?
	Response from Cabinet Member
	The general approach of the planning system is, where possible, to protect land within the Green Belt from development. That is indeed the fundamental approach taken by the JCS. However, where insufficient developable land exists outside the Green Belt to meet identified need the National Planning Policy Framework acknowledges that adjustments to the Green Belt boundary may be made through the development plan so that need can be met by carefully considered release of land. It will be essential that the proposed development at North West Cheltenham takes place with the required level and quality of supporting infrastructure coming forward in synchronisation with development of the area. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which it is intended to published before 15th October 2013, will set out the details.
13.	Question from Councillor Dr Adrian Mears to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
	This question relates to a key issue that was raised by Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council in its submission to the JCS consultation in February 2012 but which has not been included in list of key issues in paragraph 1.9 of the Report of the Leader on the JCS motion. The draft JCS assumes a future demography and housing need for Cheltenham that includes a high net inward migration of people in the over-60 and over-75 age groups, encouraged by the high level of house building that is proposed. Although the whole of the UK is facing the difficult challenge of how to support its ageing population, the JCS with the amount of house building it proposes will make the problem substantially more serious for Cheltenham, creating an increasing deficit between the growing cost of supporting the ageing population and the reducing income from central government for social care and healthcare. Many older residents will struggle as public and private pensions and investments are ravaged by inflation and by low annuity rates. Cheltenham could then fall into a vicious spiral in which growing poverty and worsening services and infrastructure make the town less attractive for investment, for employers and for people of high ability. Is Cheltenham Borough Council concerned about this danger from the JCS proposals, and if so, what will the Borough Council do to address it?
	Response from Cabinet Member
	It is not necessarily the case that in-migrants in the age range cited will

is
he
the
ncil,
on hat al ugh /s by a ld lot en to ute e it be
se

	 designation. The Parish Council cannot, through the document prepared, legally apply for Local Green Space designation. However, the Parish Council have been advised that the report prepared will be reviewed and taken into account as a consultation response to the draft JCS. The council has not had sight of the traffic modelling evidence cited, but will be undertaking its own traffic modelling work shortly. Engagement has been ongoing with Gloucestershire Highways. 			
	In a supplementary question, Dr Mears asked whether the council needed to have much better information now on the traffic problems and potential solutions before it can agree to large-scale development on Cheltenham's south side?			
	In response the Leader agreed that further analysis needed to be done on this issue but advised that they were not yet at the end of the process.			
15.	Question from Helen Wells to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan			
	What action is this Council taking to ensure development takes place on all available brown field sites before considering planning applications on green belt land?			
	Response from Cabinet Member			
	Draft Policy C1 implies that brownfield development will take precedence over development on previously undeveloped land. However, it should be noted that not all brownfield sites are suitable for development and that once the JCS is adopted none of the urban extension sites will be in the Green Belt.			
In considering sites it is also important that the Council has regard an acts upon the guidance on the need for a 5 year housing land supply out in the National Planning Policy Framework. Applying the approa suggested will make Cheltenham extremely vulnerable to not having year supply of housing and therefore at risk from speculative development.				
	While the Council is keen to ensure development of brownfield sites, it cannot refuse to consider planning applications relating to Green Belt land on the basis that brownfield sites may be available. The council will apply the policies of the development plan and National Planning Policy Framework in considering such applications. It will be a matter for applicants to demonstrate that there are very special circumstances justifying their proposals for development on Green Belt land.			
	In a supplementary question Helen Wells asked why the council was not encouraging or enforcing brownfield development first when the NPPF core planning principles chapter, paragraph 17 point 8, says that the local authority must encourage the effective use of land by the re-use of land that has previously been developed i.e brownfield land.			

	In response the Leader advised that the council would be encouraging the use of brownfield sites first. However this type of development was sometimes more difficult and may not be sufficient to match the housing need.		
16.	Question from Charlie Watson on behalf of Gloucestershire CPRE to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan		
	Policy C.3 refers to the provision of Affordable housing.		
	The draft Strategy currently proposes making provision to meet a housing need of 33,200, comprising both market and 'affordable' homes – the latter being defined in paragraph 4.124. However, nowhere in the Consultation draft is information provided on the proportion of the new homes total required to meet each type of housing. Additionally, Policy C3 is silent on the actual percentage of affordable homes that needs to be provided on the proposed strategic sites. So:-		
	What proportion of the proposed total housing requirement has the Strategy assumed for the provision of social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing in reaching its conclusion that 33,200 homes are required to meet housing needs?		
	Response from Cabinet Member		
	Please refer to the answer to question 5. This is accepted as a key issue and the Strategic Housing Market Assessment will set out the proportion of affordable homes – see draft policy C3.		
17.	Question from Charlie Watson on behalf of Gloucestershire CPRE to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan		
	How has the Strategy determined that the proportion of 'affordable' homes can viably be delivered during the plan period in order to demonstrate that the plan will be 'sound' and not merely likely, by default, to allow substitution of additional market homes to meet the overall target number?		
	Response from Cabinet Member		
	I share the concern raised and seeking to provide sufficient affordable housing is a key element of the JCS. However, the question conflates need and supply. On the basis of need identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, the JCS will seek to deliver as much as it can without compromising the viability of development having regard to the requirement simultaneously to bring forward other infrastructure on and off site. In reality this will differ from site to site according to material considerations. This approach is reflected in the wording of JCS draft policy C3.		
18.	Question from Gerry Potter to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan		
	On page 108 of the draft JCS document 'Housing' is shown from the A46		

- 13 -

	Shurdington Road to Leckhampton Farm Court and on what is known as SD2 (the Tewkesbury White Land). The owners of the pig field at Farm Lane, on the Leckhampton land, have made it very clear that they do not wish to sell that land and, as far as we are aware, Gloucestershire County Council have not made any commitment to sell their land for development. Why is the map on page 108 showing these areas to be included in the strategic site and can you please explain the latest situation regarding the GCC land? There are also two Town and Village Green applications, and an NPPF
	Local Green Space application on the Leckhampton and Shurdington lands. Can the Council please comment on the deliverability of this strategic site.
	Response from Cabinet Member
	Engagement with landowners is ongoing. Please see response to question 14 in regard to the application of a Local Green Space designation. Evidence and engagement to date indicates that the urban extension allocated at policy A6 is deliverable.
	In a supplementary question Mr Potter asked why the results of a recent Green Belt review had not been taken into account when designating this land for potential housing?
	In response the Leader advised that it was a difficult process and there may be a necessity to take some land out of the Green Belt.
1	
19.	Question from Gerry Potter to Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan
19.	
19.	Steve Jordan On page 65 para 4.72 of the draft JCS document it states: "Development close to, but outside, the AONB boundary has the potential to have a detrimental impact on its setting through, for example, impacting on key views into and out of the AONB or impacting on landscape character in and around the AONB boundary. Applications in the setting of the AONB must fully consider any potential impacts". Will "any potential impacts" be strongly considered when making decisions on strategic sites very close
	Steve JordanOn page 65 para 4.72 of the draft JCS document it states: "Development close to, but outside, the AONB boundary has the potential to have a detrimental impact on its setting through, for example, impacting on key views into and out of the AONB or impacting on landscape character in and around the AONB boundary. Applications in the setting of the AONB must fully consider any potential impacts". Will "any potential impacts" be strongly considered when making decisions on strategic sites very close to the AONB?Response from Cabinet MemberPlease see response to question 1. Impacts upon the AONB will be fully considered in accordance with draft policy S7.
19. 20.	Steve JordanOn page 65 para 4.72 of the draft JCS document it states: "Development close to, but outside, the AONB boundary has the potential to have a detrimental impact on its setting through, for example, impacting on key views into and out of the AONB or impacting on landscape character in and around the AONB boundary. Applications in the setting of the AONB must fully consider any potential impacts". Will "any potential impacts" be strongly considered when making decisions on strategic sites very close to the AONB?Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 1. Impacts upon the AONB will be fully

 2013, this work showed the annual natural population increase in Gloucestershire was 511 per year to 2011, measured by the 2011 census. The JCS projection estimates a natural increase of population for Gloucester, Tewkesbury & Cheltenham at 960/yr, 160/yr and 610/yr respectively, a total of 1730 per year which is over three times the actual measured rate. Could the Council please say why this interim projection is being used for the JCS? Response from Cabinet Member The OAN of the JCS is based upon the Interim 2011-based subnational population projections for England. They are the latest official local authority level projections and as such need to be taken into account as part of the evidence base used in determining the housing requirement. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment is currently in draft form and does not form the baseline of the projections of the JCS. The aim is to publish the SHMA before the proposed consultation starts on 15th October 2013 and will be will be taken into account in developing the final JCS document for submission in 2014. In a supplementary question Mr Braunholtz asked whether the council was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their projections in this way? In response the Leader advised that he couldn't comment on a conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS					
the JCS? Response from Cabinet Member The OAN of the JCS is based upon the Interim 2011-based subnational population projections for England. They are the latest official local authority level projections and as such need to be taken into account as part of the evidence base used in determining the housing requirement. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment is currently in draft form and does not form the baseline of the projections of the JCS. The aim is to publish the SHMA before the proposed consultation starts on 15 th October 2013 and will be will be taken into account in developing the final JCS document for submission in 2014. In a supplementary question Mr Braunholtz asked whether the council was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their projections in this way? In response the Leader advised that he couldn't comment on a conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. 21. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the hous		census. The JCS projection estimates a natural increase of population for Gloucester, Tewkesbury & Cheltenham at 960/yr, 160/yr and 610/yr respectively, a total of 1730 per year which is over three times the actual			
The OAN of the JCS is based upon the Interim 2011-based subnational population projections for England. They are the latest official local authority level projections and as such need to be taken into account as part of the evidence base used in determining the housing requirement. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment is currently in draft form and does not form the baseline of the projections of the JCS. The aim is to publish the SHMA before the proposed consultation starts on 15 th October 2013 and will be will be taken into account in developing the final JCS document for submission in 2014. In a supplementary question Mr Braunholtz asked whether the council was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their projections in this way? In response the Leader advised that he couldn't comment on a conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. 21. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some		the JCS?			
 population projections for England. They are the latest official local authority level projections and as such need to be taken into account as part of the evidence base used in determining the housing requirement. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment is currently in draft form and does not form the baseline of the projections of the JCS. The aim is to publish the SHMA before the proposed consultation starts on 15th. October 2013 and will be taken into account in developing the final JCS document for submission in 2014. In a supplementary question Mr Braunholtz asked whether the council was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their projections in this way? In response the Leader advised that he couldn't comment on a conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to not however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan 		Response from Cabinet Member			
does not form the baseline of the projections of the JCS. The aim is to publish the SHMA before the proposed consultation starts on 15 th October 2013 and will be will be taken into account in developing the final JCS document for submission in 2014. In a supplementary question Mr Braunholtz asked whether the council was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their projections in this way? In response the Leader advised that he couldn't comment on a conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. 21. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. 22. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan		population projections for England. They are the latest official local authority level projections and as such need to be taken into account as			
 was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their projections in this way? In response the Leader advised that he couldn't comment on a conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan 		does not form the baseline of the projections of the JCS. The aim is to publish the SHMA before the proposed consultation starts on 15 th October 2013 and will be will be taken into account in developing the fin			
conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would be a key part of the consultation. 21. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Can the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. 22. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan		was aware that the ONS were shocked that the council was using their			
Steve JordanCan the public have a guarantee from Cheltenham Borough Council that the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation.Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15.The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered.22.Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve JordanSocial Housing is provided in Cheltenham by Cheltenham Borough		conversation he wasn't aware of but further analysis of the figures would			
 the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household formation, economic growth and job creation. Response from Cabinet Member Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan 	21.				
 Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. 22. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Social Housing is provided in Cheltenham by Cheltenham Borough 		the JCS still maintains a brownfield first policy and any development on the greenbelt or open countryside will be phased late into the programme and be contingent on the 'return to trend' on the district household			
 Please see response to question 15. The JCS has as one of its strategic objectives "making the best use of previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. 22. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Social Housing is provided in Cheltenham by Cheltenham Borough 		Response from Cabinet Member			
 previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and so care must be taken when redevelopment is considered. Question from Derek Gott to the Leader of the Council, Councillor Steve Jordan Social Housing is provided in Cheltenham by Cheltenham Borough 		-			
Steve Jordan Social Housing is provided in Cheltenham by Cheltenham Borough		previously developed land", and the housing policy supports in principle residential and economic development that comes forward on brownfield sites, so long as it meets other sustainability criteria. It is important to note however that some brownfield sites can be rich in biodiversity and			
	22.	•			

Council please provide information and comment on how Cheltenham Borough Homes have been consulted and involved in the JCS in order to meet the assessed need for affordable and social housing to 2031.
Response from Cabinet Member
As part of the positive relationship between Cheltenham Borough Council and Cheltenham Borough Homes, there is ongoing involvement and consultation opportunities for a range of strategic issues including the JCS and the Cheltenham Plan. Once the Strategic Housing Market Assessment is finalised CBH will be approached for further discussion. CBH is already involved in development of the Cheltenham Plan through its Officer Working Group which will take forward JCS proposals within the borough. In addition there is regular discussion between CBC and CBH at senior officer, Board and Cabinet level. CBH have both an interest and a role in the future provision of social housing in Cheltenham with a clear intention to continue to provide excellent services on behalf of the people and communities in Cheltenham.

Following the tabled public questions, the Leader advised that the council had received a further set of questions from Swindon Village Parish Council. The number of questions had exceeded the limit and the reduced list of questions had then been received too late to be included. He advised that a separate set of answers had been sent to the Parish Council and following a request from a member he agreed to circulate these to all members of Council.

6. **MEMBER QUESTIONS**

There were no member questions.

7. NOTICES OF MOTION None

8. GLOUCESTER. CHELTENHAM AND TEWKESBURY JOINT CORE STRATEGY-DRAFT FOR PUBLIC CONSULTATION

Before the main debate the Mayor invited members to ask questions on the report. These questions would then be answered by the Leader or the Head of Planning, Tracey Crews. The questions and responses are detailed below.

- What would be the council's response to any planning applications from developers between now and the establishment of the JCS? Did the emerging document have weight or could the council defer considering any applications?
 - 0 The Head of Planning advised that the council would still be obliged to accept and consider any planning applications. She referred members to paragraph 1.7 in the Leader's report and paragraph 1.8 in the JCS appendix. The draft JCS would be accorded status as a material consideration in any planning

applications but its weight would be limited as the JCS was not yet at a statutory consultation stage.

- Would the decision to choose the mid term of the range of household formation rates (28,500 to 37,400) be reviewed during the consultation period?
 - This decision and all the statistics used as part of the evidence base would be open to challenge during the consultation phase.
- Regarding the amended recommendation 3, if there were any subsequent reductions in housing allocations would these be taken from strategic sites rather than other sites.
 - The allocation target for Cheltenham was in the order of 10,000 until 2031 and the Leader's personal view was that if this figure could be reduced then this would be achieved by taking out one of the urban extensions.
- Would the projections in this document be revised when the new ONS figures were available in the Spring?
 - The Leader could not comment on the other councils but his personal view was that the projections should always be based on the latest information.
- Referring to the key risks set out in the Leader's covering report, could any more factual evidence be provided to inform members of the consequences of not accepting this JCS document?
 - The council was dealing with new legislation and therefore it was difficult to give a more definitive answer. The Leader's personal view was that if the council did not accept the document then this could create a worse situation not a better one.
 - The Head of Planning added that if Council did not agree the JCS, then with no direction of travel, this would give the opportunity for any application to be submitted in the context of the NPPF and the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The council would have to look positively at each application. The council needed to be mindful of the specific guidance given by the government minister to the three councils at a meeting earlier that week.
- The penultimate paragraph on page 28 refers to "an increased risk of speculative planning applications" in Cheltenham's case, isn't this because we do not have an up-to-date Local Plan?
 - The Head of Planning advised that Cheltenham had agreed to enter collaborative working via the JCS and it was through this plan that housing requirements and strategic allocations needed to be made. The council therefore needs to progress the JCS as quickly as possible in order to control speculative planning applications.
- Reference the third paragraph on page 38 "In the absence of a 5 year supply of housing land", what weight should councillors give to this statement when a joint letter dated 22nd November 2012 to the developer of the Kidnappers/Farm Lane proposed development stated that "CBC does not consider that it has under-delivered in the provision of housing and that it has a shortfall of 315 housing when compared against the Draft RSS requirements, and considers it has met its housing requirements under the Gloucestershire Structure Plan."

- With the permissions granted since November 2012 to the present day, would it be wrong for councillors and the general public to believe that even the shortfall of 315 houses would have been met by now?
 - The Head of Planning advised that the draft RSS (proposed changes) currently referred to a need for 8100 homes within the borough boundary – this figure excludes the urban extensions outside the administrative area of Cheltenham. currently we were working with a five-year land supply as set out in the draft Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS). Once the JCS was in place this would replace the RSS.
 - The Head of Planning advised council that we should not confuse housing requirements of the RSS with that of the JCS; the JCS provides a new baseline starting from 2011 and ending 2031. The JCS now identified 10,000 new homes for Cheltenham which the strategy would deliver through development within the urban area together with urban extensions. Given that 3 of the urban extensions were wholly or in part within Tewkesbury Borough, Tewkesbury would be helping to facilitate Cheltenham's housing needs.
- The recent Briefing Note informs us that "In the absence of an up-todate Local Plan, Cheltenham's housing supply continues to be monitored against the Draft Regional Spatial Strategy figure of 8,100 dwellings between 2006 and 2026 (This equates to 405 dwellings per year). The JCS minute reported that during the period June 2006 and April 2013, 4,400 dwellings had been constructed or planning permissions granted, which equates to 628 dwellings per year, or 52 per month. If the same pattern continues to 2031 (JCS 20 year period) something like 11,311 dwellings will be constructed. Can you tell me where the proposal for 10,000 dwellings for the Cheltenham area fits into the equation? What is the housing requirement figure after the deductions and how do the two periods of time fit together?
 - The Head of Planning referred members to Policy SP2 on page 29 of the JCS document and highlighted that the 10,000 new homes requirement included all completions and commitments since 2011, commitments together with a windfall figure windfalls are those sites which come forward which cannot be anticipated. Cheltenham has a firm history of such sites being delivered and as such the JCS had made an assumption of 54 per year.
- How, where and when would the consultation events take place referred to on page 7 of the document?
 - A timetable of consultation events would be produced in due course. The publication of the document today provided the public with a head start and more time to read and digest the information before these took place.
- What are the population projections for 2031 for each of the three districts in the JCS area?
 - The Head of Planning advised that the JCS was currently based upon interim population projections from ONS figures for a 10 year period from 2011-2021 and not a two-year period as was suggested in one of the earlier public questions. Long-term projections were expected in Spring 2014 and the DCLG had already published new guidance on their website on the strategy

for dealing with the new projected figures. The council will continue to use the latest population projections and revise them as new information becomes available from ONS. These could be circulated when available.

- What consideration had been given to the senior schools infrastructure needed to support families in the wider Leckhampton area if the development went ahead?
 - The strategic planning unit at the county council had already done some work and had not raised any specific concerns at this stage however this was an area for further detailed work. The infrastructure delivery plan would be made available on the website as soon as it was completed.
- Will a computer generated traffic simulation be available during the public consultation?
 - The Head of Planning advised that the JCS councils had commissioned traffic modelling through the County Council to consider both individual sites and corridors between sites. This was technically detailed work and a user-friendly simulation would not be available during this stage of public consultation. However this could be considered for the next stage.
- How would the Neighbourhood Plan produced by Leckhampton and Warden Hill Parish Council be inputted into the JCS or the Local Plan process?
 - This would provide a useful input to the consultation stage of the JCS. The Head of Planning advised that the quickest route for the Parish Council would be to deal with the information set out in the Neighbourhood Plan as part of the JCS process.
- How likely was it that there would be changes to the JCS document?
 - The Leader advised that it was a genuine consultation. The document was not the final version and they would be prepared to make changes where necessary.
- Why was the Green Belt movement around the racecourse necessary as it was not a strategic site?
 - The Leader advised that the changes were recommended as a minor tidy up to avoid any confusion in the future regarding this area as there had been some in the past.
- In a briefing to the Conservative Members, the Chief Executive had reassured members that safeguarded areas would be protected from housing or economic development but that it would still be possible to build a road through them. Could this result in a new distribution road west of Hester's Way and Springbank?
 - The Head of Planning advised that this had not been raised by county council officers or by county council members at the JCS Program Board and therefore was not being considered at this time. If a proposal did come forward it would require planning consent outside of the JCS process.
- Given the dependencies on so many other documents still to be published would it be wise to amend the resolutions being considered today to make them contingent on these results.
 - The Leader advised that this was an informal consultation. They could have waited until all the missing information was in place but that would have denied the public this extra opportunity to

comment on the JCS at this stage. He would be reluctant to amend the resolutions as they had been agreed across the three councils.

- If the vast majority of the public reject the JCS proposals what would be the next step?
 - The Leader stressed that the public consultation was not a referendum. There was an imperative for the council to have a JCS in plan to demonstrate needs and how they intended to meet those needs and a decision would be made on that basis.

The Council adjourned for tea from 15.45 until 16.10 pm.

The Leader introduced the report on the draft Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy for public consultation. The report summarised the draft JCS and sought Council approval to publish the document for public consultation. He thanked officers for their hard work in bringing together the evidence and members for their contributions at the member working group and seminars. He explained that the document before members represented a non statutory consultation with the statutory consultation on the final JCS to be issued in the Spring 2014. He informed members that Tewkesbury BC had approved the document, with Gloucester City due to consider it on 12 September.

The Leader highlighted the difficult balances to be addressed. Firstly, the JCS had to address housing shortages whilst protecting the AONB and the Green Belt. Secondly, there was a need for a sound plan and this was dictated by the National Planning Policy framework which had been introduced since the last Council debate on the JCS. This required councils to objectively assess the need for development (whilst allowing for migration and economic growth) and to demonstrate how to meet that need. Whilst expert advice had been sought there were still queries. The Inspector would determine whether the JCS was sound and it would not be implemented if it was not. Thirdly, he highlighted the joint working of the three Councils which was, in his view, a sensible approach. He recognised that each council had different priorities but it would be a high risk strategy for Cheltenham to approach this on its own.

The Leader acknowledged that there were some gaps in the documentation to complete the evidence. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) which covered the whole of Gloucestershire and which was needed to develop the policy for affordable housing should be published imminently. Affordable housing was vital to address the local need. The Infrastructure Development Plan was being worked on county wide and would be made available before the start of the statutory consultation. This would help introduce the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which was needed to fund the work needed. Finally, a viability study was being commissioned which would determine what could be funded.

In terms of priorities, the Leader highlighted the brownfield first policy. Whilst this could not be enforced, it could be proactively encouraged. It was assumed that there would be 4400 new houses in urban Cheltenham which included those already built and approved, potential sites and windfall opportunities. The SHMA was undertaking further work with regard to what could be achieved. The

infrastructure for phased development of new extensions would be put in place as that happened. The progress of the JCS would be reviewed every 5 years.

The Leader emphasised the following concerns :

- Objectively Assessed Need this was an important part of the consultation and additional work had been undertaken to get the best estimate. There was a query about whether the latest data had been used and this would be reviewed during the consultation. In terms of the demographic estimate this was 28,500 homes across the whole JCS area; the higher economic projection was 37,400 homes. The recommendation of 33,200 homes assumed a "return to trend" of household formation. This must be a sound figure.
- Traffic there was a need to ensure this was properly included and it was recognised that there was more work to be done.
- Sites most sites would be urban extensions around Cheltenham and Gloucester although there could be strategic sites. The Cheltenham target was 10,000 and the current allocation was 10,850; given the sensitivities it was important that this did not mean overprovision and the final consultation should take this on board.
- Cheltenham countryside it was inevitable that this could not be totally preserved if need was to be met but the proposals still meant that 100 % of the AONB and 80 % of the Green Belt would be protected.
- Ministerial visit Nick Boles, Planning Minister had welcomed the joint working between the three councils and had highlighted that Objectively Assessed Need took priority over the Green Belt. He would support the 5 year supply if one council had a temporary issue.

The Leader then referred members to the recommendations. He believed it was important to give the public a say and highlighted that there would be further consultation next spring. He pointed out the additional recommendation 3 which were designed to address any concerns about possible overprovision in Cheltenham and to some extent in Tewkesbury and allowed future adjustments to be made. He was pleased that all three councils had been able to support the addition of this recommendation.

He concluded by encouraging members to support the document going out for public consultation even if they had personal doubts. The consultation would enable the document to be scrutinised and for opinions and views to be put forward and considered. The alternative, if the document was not agreed, was to open the door to speculative development. He acknowledged that it was a very difficult decision for all members but it was his personal view that a better solution would be achieved by all three councils working together.

A member acknowledged the hard work of officers and the JCS member steering group but could not accept the proposed number of homes required for the borough. He feared that there could be oversupply of housing which would jeopardise the Green Belt which should only be taken in exceptional circumstances. He believed that delaying the JCS with the consequence of speculative development was a risk worth taking.

Councillor Smith proposed the following amendment which was seconded by Councillor Chard:

An additional recommendation 4.

That the document to be submitted to a public consultation be amended to remove site A6 Leckhampton and site A7 Up Hatherley as identified sites for development.

In proposing the amendment, Councillor Smith first wished to thank the officers across all three authorities for the work they had done in getting the JCS to this stage. He felt the Leader had given too many excuses and this document should not have been brought forward to Council for approval if it was not fit for purpose and the Leader had reservations. It was clear to him that people in Cheltenham did not want this housing and these proposals would not keep Cheltenham special and unique.

A member spoke in support of the amendment. They were deeply concerned about the potential traffic congestion in Leckhampton. They referred to a recent traffic report from a highways officer who commented that the traffic network was already broken and could not be corrected through mitigating actions. The parish councils of Leckhampton and Warden Hill and Shurdington had produced new evidence on this issue. It was essential that further modelling was done before any developments could be considered and therefore Leckhampton should be taken out at this stage.

Another member was concerned about the 800 houses proposed for Up Hatherley on Green Belt land which had come as a shock to local residents. They had already received 30 letters of objections from local residents. Further concern was expressed about flooding risks from development on the white land at Leckhampton.

Another member spoke against the amendment. It was important for the administration to take some responsibility and the proposed amendment reneged on the tentative levels of the agreement that had already been achieved. The NPPF established a new growth-driven concept of planning which meant that the plan had to respond to projections of what population growth, demographic change and economic growth would be. He reported that the Planning minister who had met the three Council leaders had said that it was not acceptable to fail to provide for Objectively Assessed Needed on the basis of the existence of the Green Belt. The member believed that if the council did not have a plan then it would be totally at the mercy of developers; it was therefore imperative that a JCS and a Local Plan was in place to protect neighbourhoods.

Another member was concerned that to pass this amendment would effectively be a resignation from the JCS process and would not protect the land at Up Hatherley. The site is within Tewkesbury Borough, they would be likely to continue the JCS process and allocate the housing figures to their needs rather than Cheltenham's. This in turn would result in a shortfall of 2000 properties for Cheltenham which would have to be found elsewhere in the town. He considered the amendment was at best naïve and at worst dishonest and would result in development by appeal. Any plan would be declared as unsound by the Inspector if it ignored expert evidence on population growth and had not considered all applications sites. Other members spoke against the amendment. One member stated that elected representatives had to be responsible but this amendment was an attempt to derail the JCS process which was irresponsible. If adopted it would fail to give a contribution from Cheltenham to the JCS. Another member talked of honesty in the process and members needed to recognise that the housing need had to be filled. Concern was expressed by another member that if this amendment was supported it could lead to other developments which would impact on communities to a greater degree. This amendment was not the solution. Some members viewed the amendment as parochial and disingenuous and there were no alternatives. If the JCS was not adopted there would be planning by appeal. Cheltenham would be vulnerable and there would be more encroachment on to the green belt.

A member supported the amendment and expressed his disappointment that Up Hatherley had been included in the proposals at the eleventh hour. He expressed concern about the proposals to develop in the green belt and referred to the reducing gap between Gloucester and Cheltenham. He had become increasingly disenchanted with the JCS process as it had advanced despite recognising its progress at the outset. Another member believed it was inappropriate to send the proposals out for consultation prior to receiving and considering the Saturn modelling. The infrastructure in these particular areas was already at its limit in his view. It was recognised that difficult decisions needed to be made but all information should be made available to have an informed debate.

Councillor Chard said he had no hesitation in seconding the amendment. He had promised residents that there would be no development on Leckhampton and he intended to keep to his promises .

In his summing up, the proposer of the amendment, Councillor Smith, said that he had been promising to protect the Green Belt for over 10 years and this was a matter of personal integrity.

Councillor Jordan, in responding to the amendment, said that passing the amendment would destroy the JCS agreement which would result in the risk of development in Leckhampton being increased not decreased. The government had made it very clear that if the council failed to have plans in place to meet needs then they would have no credibility.

Upon a vote the amendment was LOST. Voting: For 9, Against 19 with 6 Abstentions.

Councillor Bickerton proposed the following amendment which was seconded by Councillor Godwin:

He proposed an additional recommendation 4 that

JCS sites and housing targets are contingent on;

- Updated and verified ONS population projections
- final Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
- Saturn traffic modelling for all sites

- consideration of input from Parish councils in the form of Neighbourhood Planning documents, NPPF Local Green Space applications and existing Town and Village Green Applications
- the council has a policy of brown field sites first in the consideration of planning applications

In proposing the amendment Councillor Bickerton considered it was a light touch to the document which would make the resolutions contingent on having the data available. He had been informed by the ONS that the population projections were interim projections only and thus only valid for 2 years. He therefore believed that these statistics needed to be right to ensure that the evidence base was there before sites were being proposed on the Green Belt. In seconding the amendment, Councillor Godwin emphasised that it would be foolish not to take heed of the expert's advice.

Some members recognised that these were valid points which should be taken on board prior to the final JCS document being submitted to the Minister. In respect of the brownfield first policy it was noted that brownfield land no longer had the same mandatory force in the NPPF.

In response to statements by members, the Head of Planning said that the revised ONS data would be reconsidered once it became available, the traffic modelling data would be fed in to the statutory consultation, input from the Parish Councils would be considered as part of the consultation and the Strategic Housing Market Assessment would be available imminently.

A member made a statement that in the absence of key evidence the JCS consultation, if approved, could be open to judicial review as it was a flawed process. In response, the Borough Solicitor and Monitoring Officer confirmed that the document before Members was a voluntary stage consultation. Account would be taken of all the evidence gathered in this process together with objections raised. The Council was expected to act reasonably and conduct a statutory consultation in due course and, provided this was undertaken on sound grounds, the JCS would be considered to be a fair process.

In his summing up, Councillor Bickerton, said that he understood the need to keep the JCS process going and the amendment he was proposing was light touch only and simply requested more work to be done. He considered it represented due diligence in the council's handling of its JCS.

In responding to the amendment, Councillor Jordan was sympathetic but could not support the amendment as they could lose control of the process if it was made contingent on other factors.

Upon a vote the amendment was LOST. Voting: For 8, Against 20 with 5 Abstentions.

Councillor Prince proposed the following amendment which was seconded by Councillor Stennett.

He proposed an additional recommendation 4

To keep the existing Green Belt boundary around Cheltenham Racecourse.

- 24 -

In proposing this amendment, Councillor Prince referred to the Hunting Butts planning application and highlighted that the inspector had emphasised the open aspect of the racecourse which needed to be protected.

In seconding the amendment, Councillor Stennett stressed that this area was not a strategic site and was an important area to preserve.

A member highlighted the AERC Green Belt review undertaken in March 2007 which had recommended that the Green Belt surrounding the racecourse should be maintained. The racecourse played a vital role in Cheltenham. In response to comments the Head of Planning highlighted that this was purely a "tidying up exercise" and the NPPF stated that amendments could only be made to the greenbelt at a strategic point of plan making, i.e. in this case the JCS.

In his summing up, Councillor Prince again questioned why this small parcel of land had been included in the JCS. It may appear insignificant but it could lead to development around the whole perimeter of the racecourse as there would be no basis on which to refuse planning applications once the site was outside of the Green Belt.

Councillor Jordan said he had no strong views but still felt it was a relatively minor change and the professional opinion was that the Green Belt boundary needed to be clearer in this area. He suggested that the JCS was put out to consultation and it would be possible to take out that area depending on the feedback.

Responding to a request for further clarification, The Head of Planning advised that the boundary change had been made as it had been inconsistent and had been compromised in the past.

Upon a vote the amendment was LOST. Voting: For 10, Against 19 with 3 Abstentions.

As there were no further amendments, the Mayor invited members to debate the substantive motion.

A member highlighted that at every stage of the JCS to date Councillors had questioned the methodology which was being used. The estimated housing requirement of 33,400 was complex and in his view the key point was that the requirement could not be predicted with confidence. The common sense approach would be to proceed with caution and if estimates were too low more development could take place. Whilst he agreed that having a strategy was preferable to not having a strategy, he was of the opinion that the consultation proposals were far removed from what the residents of Cheltenham wanted. He believed that the views of local residents on previous options documents had been ignored and the current document before members served no practical purpose. He would therefore be voting against the draft as a matter of conscience.

A member expressed their concern with regard to the over-reliance and emphasis on urban extensions into the Green Belt, as opposed to medium sized new settlements. They questioned the proposed housing figures which in his mind were a disingenuous assumption, mid-way between the Cambridge expert's top figure of 37,400 and his demographic only figure of 28,500. He believed that the figure to be chosen within that range was a question of one's view on the levels of future economic recovery, and the extent to which household formations would revert to previous trends. He paid tribute to the hard work of officers but expressed disappointment that the reports had not always reflected members' intentions, the latest example being not putting green buffers between new and existing housing. He highlighted the importance of revisiting data sets used for calculating demographic projections during the consultation. He believed that the Cheltenham housing allocation should be no more than 10,000 and the reduction should come from the strategic sites. There was no mention in the document to a commitment to a minimum quantum or percentage in relation to affordable housing, nor to data with regard to infrastructure. There was also no commitment to the proportions of 2, 3, 4 and 5 bed properties in the context of housing density size and mix.

A member highlighted that the consultation would be an opportunity for debate and challenge but this had to be meaningful.

A member expressed his concern about the removal of land from the Green Belt and the lack of evidence of employment growth. In his view the Council would have no control over development in the long term. He believed this did not constitute a viable proposal in view of the absence of all the elements, including vital infrastructure plans.

A member made reference to the Green Belt reviews which had been undertaken by AERC and AMEC and which stated that land should only be taken from the Green Belt in very exceptional circumstances. He believed that the proposals outlined in the consultation document ignored established fact. Green belt land must have a defensible boundary, a principle which was supported by the NPPF, in order to prevent urban sprawl and keep land permanently open. AMEC had suggested that the land at Leckhampton should be clarified as Green Belt land because of its openness and importance to Cheltenham as a town. He expressed that he would be voting against the proposals.

A member highlighted that Council needed the full facts in order to make a decision. He had no confidence in the proposals for consultation as they currently stood and would be voting against them.

A member paid tribute to the good work which had been completed by officers on employment land to date. It was important that the JCS was approved so that a local plan could be adopted which would address current issues of concern. He highlighted that the JCS would be reviewed every five years and the figures would be under constant review. If a plan was in place then development could be planned for; evidence would be required for the numbers to be changed as endorsed by the Minister.

A member recognised the consequences of rejecting the proposals but could not support them. They felt that an informed decision could not be made without all the available evidence. Working with Tewkesbury BC and Gloucester City had been a difficult process and they felt that Cheltenham was being disempowered. They highlighted the need for community space and more green infrastructure and also believed that objectively assessed need should be driven by a bottom up approach.

The Mayor advised members that Council had been in session for over four hours. Upon a vote, members voted to continue the meeting.

A member emphasised the chronic shortage of affordable housing in Cheltenham. 10,000 people were in inappropriate housing across the JCS area. The choice was between planned and unplanned development and the impact of this on the quality of life of residents. He highlighted the importance of maintaining green buffers between settlements.

In his summing up, Councillor Jordan, acknowledged the general feeling that the assessment needs set out in the JCS may be too high. The public consultation was not a referendum but did provide an opportunity to challenge the evidence base and the council would continue to do that. He agreed that the green buffers referred to in the debate were crucial for the quality of life of residents and that would be further explored during the consultation. He agreed that there were missing elements of infrastructure funding but this funding could only be secured through following the JCS process. The community infrastructure levy would only be payable if the council had a robust plan in place. In conclusion he highlighted that having debated the report in detail it was now a key moment for members to make their decision. In his view the best thing for Cheltenham was to maintain the JCS process and the team effort between three councils. The worst outcome would be for this joint working to break up.

Upon 7 members standing in their seats, a recorded vote was requested and agreed.

Upon a vote it was resolved that

- 1. The draft Joint Core Strategy be approved for public consultation
- 2. Authority be delegated to the Chief Executives in consultation with the Lead Member and the JCS Member Steering Group, to make any necessary minor amendments as considered appropriate by the three JCS Councils prior to publication.
- 3. The JCS Authorities note that, through housing allocations and expected supply across the plan period, the Draft Joint Core Strategy meets the needs of the three authorities as a whole.

However, taken individually the needs of each authority are not exactly matched with the supply of homes the Joint Core Strategy is expected to deliver for each area.

Following consultation and taking account of additional evidence produced during this period, housing and employment allocations will be reviewed to improve this relationship between need and supply for each area. Voting:

For; 20 - Councillors Barnes, Britter, Coleman, Driver, Fletcher, Flynn, Harman, Colin Hay, Rowena Hay, Jeffries, Jordan, McCloskey, McKinlay, Rawson, Reid, Seacome, Stewart, Thornton, Walklett, and Wheeler. Against; 13 – Councillors Bickerton, Chard, Fisher, Godwin, Hibbert, Massey, Prince, Regan, Smith, Stennett, Sudbury, Wall, and Whyborn. Abstentions; 1 – Councillor Hall

9. ANY OTHER ITEM THE MAYOR DETERMINES AS URGENT AND WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION

No such items.

Wendy Flynn Chair

Agenda Item 8

Page 29 Cheltenham Borough Council Council – 7 October 2013 Cheltenham Transport Plan – Petition

Accountable member	Councillor Andrew McKinlay – Cabinet Member Built Environment		
Accountable officer	Mike Redman – Director Built Environment		
Ward(s) affected	All		
Significant Decision	Yes		
Executive summary	This report:-		
	 has been prepared in response to the receipt of a petition which has triggered a Council debate because it includes more than 750 signatories; 		
	 summarises the context leading to the receipt of the petition in respect of the emerging Cheltenham Transport Plan; 		
	 provides background information on the lengthy journey, in partnership with Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), which has led us to this point in the process; 		
	 makes recommendations as to how the petition should be dealt with and the calling of an Extraordinary Council Meeting 		
Recommendations	That Council, having considered the petition in accordance with the procedure set out in Appendix 2, resolves as follows:-		
	i) to note the concerns of certain sections of the public;		
	ii) to refer the petition to an Extraordinary Council Meeting following receipt of the formal GCC consultation analysis referred to in the report, in order to consider both the concerns raised in the petition and the implications of the Transport Plan for the future of the whole town.		

Financial implications	None arising specifically from this report.
	Contact officer: Mark Sheldon, Director of Resources, mark.sheldon@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264123

Legal implications	The petition falls to be considered under the Authority's Petition Scheme.	
	If Council exercises its power to request an Extraordinary Council Meeting then the Proper Officer must make arrangements to call that meeting.	
	Contact officer: Peter Lewis (OneLegal), peter.lewis@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 272012	
HR implications (including learning and	There are no direct HR implications arising from the content of this report.	
organisational development)	Contact officer: Julie McCarthy, GO Shared Service Human Resources Manager (West), julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264355	
Key risks	See risk assessment attached as Appendix 2 to this report.	
Corporate and community plan Implications	None arising specifically from this report.	
Environmental and climate change implications	None arising specifically from this report.	
Property/Asset Implications	None arising specifically from this report. Contact officer: David Roberts, Head of Property & Asset Management, david.roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264151	

1. Content of petition received

- **1.1** The Council has received a petition under the heading 'NO to Cheltenham Transport Plan and Boots Corner partial closure'.
- **1.2** The petition (a copy of which has been made available in the Members' room) includes 217 email names and 910 signatures. As such, it contains more than the 750 signatories required to trigger a Cheltenham Council debate, but is below the threshold of 5,000 signatories required for a debate by Gloucestershire County Council.
- **1.3** There is some duplication between names appearing on both signature and e-mail lists, as verified by postal address and postcodes.
- **1.4** The e-mail list pre-dates the formal consultation process by nearly 3 months, with names appearing from April 2013.
- 1.5 The statement within the petition states:-

We the undersigned DO NOT SUPPORT the Cheltenham Transport Plan. We urge both Gloucestershire County Council and Cheltenham Borough Council not to proceed with the proposals as laid out in the consultation running between July 1st and September 1st 2013.

We are particularly concerned with the proposed partial closure of Boots Corner. Reducing the number of vehicles will only offer a small improvement in the public realm quality at Boots Corner but the associated increase in displaced traffic which will have a severe impact on residential roads, for example College Road, St Luke's Road, old bath road, St George's Street, Hewlett Road, All Saints Road and Gloucester Road.

We urge the County Council not to implement the partial closure of Boots Corner as part of the Cheltenham Transport plan. **WE condemn this proposal** (and) **ask that each signature in this petition is counted as a NO vote in the consultation.**'

2. Background to receipt of the petition

- **2.1** In 2000, initial proposals were debated as an outcome of the publication of the Latham report. These proposals were subsequently picked up by the Civic Pride project (supported by the now defunct South West Regional Development Agency) and following comprehensive consultation events in 2007 and 2008, improvement plans were adopted and supported by both CBC and GCC. However, implementation did not immediately follow due to insufficient funding, the need to work up detailed transport plans and the inevitable challenges posed by the recession.
- 2.2 More recently, the creation of the Cheltenham Development Task Force (CDTF) has given new impetus to a range of projects aimed at securing the long term economic performance of the town. GCC, working in conjunction with the Task Force, was successful in securing funding from the Department for Transport's Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) in May 2012, allowing the Transport Plan element of the project to be progressed.
- **2.3** The initial project had its roots in an initiative designed to promote economic prosperity in towns across the south west of England, sponsored by SWRDA. This took different forms in response to the perceived challenges and for example, Cheltenham had a project badged as 'Civic Pride', whilst Gloucester had a more fundamental approach, delivered by an Urban Regeneration Company.
- **2.4** The Civic Pride project, as was, has been a work in progress since 2001. Over the years, its ideas have received a significant level of public support. The work led by the Cheltenham Development Task Force is bringing that project to fruition, with GCC leading on its transport elements and Cheltenham Borough Council on its public realm and development elements.
- 2.5 The project has been developed in 4 stages across a decade or more the sporadic timing being dependent on the availability of the resources to deliver each element. Each stage has been subject to public involvement and this has often included focussed workshops. The 4 stages are listed below. Public consultation involving specific questions with a reported analysis has taken place at stages b, c, & d. At each stage, decisions to progress have been based on a careful assessment of the public response and consideration of the benefits or otherwise of the project to the town. The 4 stages can be described broadly as:
 - Ideas (2001)
 - Concepts (2007)
 - Planning (2008)
 - Implementation (2013)

(a) Ideas

There has been public support for the core principle of public realm enhancement since at least 2001, when architect Derek Latham presented some radical ideas for the redesign of Boots Corner and other key public spaces at a series of public meetings.

(b) Concepts

Following receipt of SWRDA funding, formal working groups were established at officer and member level, including representation at Borough and County level on each. The project was developed further and a number of well attended focussed workshops and wider consultation events were held to gather opinions and discuss options. This stage culminated in a public consultation in June 2007 which sought views on some key concepts demonstrating how the projects initial ideas could be delivered – these

included suggestions for changes to the traffic network, broadly similar to those now being proposed. The response to this consultation saw 73% support for the principles of Civic Pride and 52% support for a range of ideas to alter the traffic system.

(c) Planning

Following this, proposals for town centre regeneration, traffic management and public realm improvements were formally adopted by the Borough Council in the Civic Pride Urban Design Framework in 2008 as a Supplementary Planning Document, which has statutory weight in the planning process. Consultation as part of the statutory adoption showed levels of respondent support at about 35% and objection at 24%, the remainder making general comments on the proposals.

(d) Implementation

The current stage – is the main focus of this report. It details proposals for a reconfiguration of traffic management measures contained in the Urban Design Framework form the basis of the traffic proposals presented in the Cheltenham Transport Challenge.

- **2.6** Responses throughout have supported the need to improve key public spaces and streets which are currently considered poor in terms of the place-making agenda. Other frustrations regularly aired include the complexity of the one-way system. Support has come from the business community as well as other respondents.
- **2.7** Nevertheless, despite the main consultation exercises preceding this stage showing more support for the project than objection, there has been a consistent level of public concern regarding displacement of traffic onto streets around the town centre, and this has been a significant feature in the latest exercise, which is the subject of this report.
- **2.8** Whilst both CBC and GCC were keen to progress the public ambition it was critical that further funds were secured for any delivery to be a success. Evidence from many towns and cities that have perceived road network challenges have tackled them through a range of measures. Examples examined include:-
 - Ashford in Kent which broke the stranglehold of its ring road by restoring single lane two-way working removed all but one set of traffic lights and married this with radical landscape-led redesign of the resulting streets to significantly increase the road space shared with pedestrians. That work resulted in average speed reductions down to just 20 mph in the shared space areas, with no loss of vehicle movements and a reported decrease in accidents, with none involving personal injury in the first six months following implementation.
 - Portishead which removed traffic lights from a key town centre junction as a four-week experiment which was made permanent owing to the improved throughput of vehicles and easier movement of pedestrians.
 - Coventry, which is completing a project to remove all city centre traffic lights and where
 part of a dual carriage-way approach to the centre has been turfed-over to enhance
 public green space, contributing to an impressive environmental uplift; and
 - Worcester which achieved a notable shift in travel patterns by encouraging more people to consider using alternative and sustainable modes of transport.
- **2.9** In the course of this work, officers from both Councils visited a number of the schemes and met the engineers and designers involved. Additionally, research evidence (University of Leeds) supported the idea that it is pedestrians (footfall) that adds vitality and performance to a retail centre, not car drivers passing by or sitting in traffic queues. Thus, it was considered vital that funds were found to support a wide range of measures, not just physical.

- 2.10 The securing of government grant funding by GCC from the LSTF was a critical precursor which meant that the scheme could move to the next stage. However, it should be noted that in the interim period from 2008 until funding was secured, further traffic modelling had been undertaken by GCC as highway authority. A key component of this was the development of a 'Paramics' traffic model, a technically superior software modelling tool to that previously deployed and which provided greater options for modelling impact assessments.
- 2.11 The earlier 2006/2007 traffic modelling assessment carried out by Colin Buchanan on behalf of the Civic Pride UDF project group, was tasked with identifying a preferred scheme proposal, but was based on outputs from the CSV 2003 base year model only, A subsequent comparison of 2003 and 2011 peak hour modelled flows (work undertaken by Gloucestershire Highways/Atkins GCC's term consultants) showed significant predicted increases in traffic on roads in central Cheltenham over the forecast period. It was therefore decided that the traffic impacts associated with the preferred scheme proposal be re-assessed to take account of this increased background traffic predicted in the period up to 2011 and 2016, based on traffic forecasts taken from GCC's 2011 and 2016 CSV future year models.
- **2.12** That 'revised' CSV modelling exercise, undertaken by Gloucestershire Highways/Atkins, was completed and reported on in October 2008, with the results indicating that the scale of the potential traffic impact on the adjacent junctions under assessment would be relatively small compared to existing delays experienced in the 'do nothing' base case.
- **2.13** However, given that SATURN (Simulation and Assignment of Traffic to Urban Road Networks) is primarily a strategic 'area-wide' traffic modelling tool, it was recommended that further more detailed junction assessments based on emerging micro-simulation modelling techniques would be necessary before confirming these preliminary CSV model findings. A key component of this was the development of a Paramics traffic model.
- 2.14 PARAMICS was chosen for this latest traffic assessment exercise as the most appropriate traffic modelling package as it combines the detailed traffic behaviour relationships inherent to micro-simulation software packages together with a strong route assignment procedure making it suitable for assessing the proposed changes in road configuration in Cheltenham, and key to accurately assessing the effect of any alterations considered, particularly in relation to the anticipated re-routing of traffic following the closure of Boot's corner to general through traffic.
- 2.15 Consequently, during 2009/2010 'base year' PARAMICS micro-simulation peak hour models of Cheltenham town centre and the surrounding inner area were developed, and these fully validated models Local Model Validation Report dated December 2010 have since been used as the basis for assessing the detailed design of the proposed scheme option for a series of 2016 and 2026 future forecast year scenarios. These models build on GCC's existing wider area CSV SATURN strategic models, as used for traffic modelling purposes in the earlier 'Civic Pride' project work.
- **2.16** While PARAMICS is recognised by the Department for Transport (DfT) as a reliable tool for this purpose, and is accepted as an industry-standard traffic modelling computer package for detailed assessment of traffic management options, no 'simulation' programmes can ever be considered as 100% accurate in predicting traffic behaviour. However, it has proven to be reliable for other projects of a similar nature, and in the case of the Cheltenham model has been fully validated against a comprehensive set of 2010 'base year' observed junction traffic counts commissioned by GCC.
- 2.17 The latest detailed PARAMICS traffic modelling exercise undertaken by Gloucestershire Highways/Atkins on behalf of and reviewed by the Cheltenham Task Force, indicates that without restraint, we should expect a significant increase in future peak hour traffic volumes (and traffic congestion), and higher pollution levels in Cheltenham in the years to come. Given

that vehicle pollution levels already need to be lowered and the identified problem of increased congestion needing to be addressed, the inevitable conclusion is that to 'do nothing' is not sustainable.

- 2.18 In preparation for the summer 2013 public consultation exercise, a series of Paramics model runs were carried out. These comprised the 2010 model base year scenario, the predicted traffic volumes in 2026 with the current town centre road layout, and the predicted traffic volumes in 2026 with the proposed road layout in place. The year 2026 was chosen as this represents a suitable horizon year 10 years after completion of the proposed changes, and to demonstrate that the packages of measures will still be effective well into the future.
- **2.19** Comparison of these flows were then presented at the Consultation events as a set of diagrams, for the weekday morning (08:00 to 9:00hrs) and evening (17:00 to 18:00hrs) peak hour periods, to show the effects of the scheme proposal, and in particular the re-routing of traffic unto alternative routes further out from the town centre.
- 2.20 The Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) package of measures is much wider than merely traffic modelling and adjusting the road network. The LSTF programme includes both capital and revenue funding of which the majority of funding allocated by the Department for Transport is for revenue expenditure. The revenue funding is being used to engage with businesses, organisations and residents to reduce the impact of road traffic on the highway network. This strategy to encourage more walking, cycling and use of public transport is an important element of the whole project in Cheltenham as it will reduce the impact of traffic changes resulting from the proposals in the Cheltenham Transport Plan.
- **2.21** Over the last six months, the LSTF programme has been engaging with up to 7,000 households in the residential areas of south and west Cheltenham. Travel advisers have been providing information on a range of transport options and providing materials and incentives to trial other modes of transport. Provision of cycle maps, pedometers to encourage more walking and a newly produced multi-operator bus map have proved popular. A trial of a smartcard that is accepted on two of the main bus operators' services has enabled local people to try local buses for a month free of charge.

3. The Cheltenham traffic plan consultation process

- **3.1** The public consultation concerning these proposals is being managed on behalf of GCC by Gloucestershire Highways with full support from both CBC and the CDTF.
- **3.2** The consultation event ran from 1st July 2013 to 1st September 2013 inclusive a period of 63 days, or 9 weeks. A standard consultation period is more often a 6 week period, but it was decided to extend the period by 50% to allow for the impact of summer holidays.
- **3.3** Prior to the consultation taking place information concerning the proposals had been issued to the local media over an extended period of time. Initially this promotion of LSTF issues was led by the Task Force, to allow time for GCC to recruit a delivery team. On the 8th September 2012, there was a launch coinciding with a 'Sustainable Transport Expo' in Cheltenham which was attended by The Rt Hon. Dr Vince Cable MP, Secretary of State for Business, Innovation and Skills, which secured significant media coverage. Further promotional activities took place including information events to various groups and a visit by Norman Baker MP, parliamentary under-secretary of state for the Department for Transport on 20th February 2013. After this period, GCC took on the lead role for the consultation process.

- **3.4** The awareness raising process took various forms in the fortnight prior to the consultation starting and during the consultation period itself. As well as the usual media coverage (principally Echo and local radio BBC, Heart FM) a range of other activities took place:
 - 16,000 information leaflets and questionnaires were delivered to households within the central area
 - A dedicated website was hosted by both GCC and CBC websites hot-linked to the GCC consultation platform
 - A briefing session was held for both CBC and GCC councillors
 - An exhibition roadshow visited 13 sites across the town
 - Briefing sessions also took place upon request, including to the C5 group of five Parishes Councils, Civic Society and local MP
 - Specific meetings were held with other stakeholders upon request e.g. local private school operators
 - Press releases were timed to keep the event in the public domain and every opportunity was taken to promote the consultation website.
- **3.5** Public exhibitions were initially organised and advised within the consultation leaflet as follows:

Sainsbury's at Oakley, Priors Rd	Tuesday 2 nd July	11am – 3pm
St Lukes Church Hall, St Lukes Pl	Wednesday 3 rd July	5pm – 8pm
St Pauls Church Hall, Brunswick St	Thursday 4 th July	3pm – 7pm
The Municipal Offices, The Promenade	Friday 5 th July	3pm – 7pm
The Brewery, Henrietta St	Saturday 6 th July	11am – 4pm
Up Hatherley Library, Hulbert Cres	Monday 8 th July	2pm – 5.30pm
Christ Church Hall, Malvern Rd	Tuesday 9 th July	3pm – 7pm
Hesters Way Resource Centre	Wednesday 10 th July	3pm – 7pm
Regent Arcade, High St	Thursday 11 th July	11am – 4pm
Charlton Kings Library, Church St	Friday 12 th July	3pm – 7pm

In order to maintain public interest in the consultation and in an attempt to generate as many questionnaire responses as possible three further exhibitions were organised:

The Promenade, Outside Waterstones	Wednesday 14 th Aug	11am – 3pm
Regent Arcade, High St	Saturday 17 th Aug	11am – 3pm
Cheltenham Cricket Club, Fairview	Wednesday 21 st Aug	4pm – 7pm

- **3.6** It was highlighted at each exhibition event that any feedback given on the day was not a formal response; it was merely an opportunity to gain information on the scheme and ask questions. If they wanted to provide a formal response to the consultation, they would have to do so in the form of letters, emails or completion of a questionnaire.
- **3.7** Additionally there was a wide range of views published in the letters page of the Echo which assisted with general awareness raising.

3.8 A factor noted by all individuals involved in the consultation was the opportunity that the event engendered for the public to air their views on the existing road network situation. There were many conversations concerning existing perceptions of pinch points and challenges, including too much traffic on specific streets; the challenges of local parking for residents; the complexities of the one-way system; the challenge of cruisers and speeding generally; should cyclists and pedestrians share the same space? This wide ranging set of issues and concerns reinforces the earlier (2006 & 2008) consultation outcome and position adopted by GCC that to "do-nothing" in relation to predicted future traffic growth is not a realistic option.

4. Current situation

- **4.1** GCC has taken advice throughout the process from the Consultation Institute, a not-forprofit organisation which seeks to promote the highest standards of public and stakeholder consultation. The Institute reviewed GCC's plans for the public consultation, making specific suggestions and recommendations to ensure a robust process, including the careful consideration of equality impacts to ensure that particular interest groups were not disadvantaged by the process followed.
- **4.2** To assist with coding of written comments and the analysis of the results, GCC has employed Opinion Research Services Ltd (ORS), an independent social research organisation. ORS is a Market Research Society Company Partner and is fully compliant with the MRS Code of Conduct. ORS is also a member of the Consultation Institute and its research activities and systems are fully accredited to BS ISO 9001:2008 and BS ISO 20252.

5. Conclusion

- **5.1** In order to fully analyse and give due weight and full consideration of the consultation analysis, it is understood that the GCC report will not be available for several weeks. Only upon receipt of that report will CBC be in a position to make a fully informed decision on whether or not to support the Cheltenham Transport Plan.
- **5.2** Subject to Council endorsement, officers consider that the issue is worthy of a separate single item Special Council debate, so that the points raised in the petition can be fully aired in the context of the wider consultation responses.

Report author	Contact officer: Mike Redman, Director Built Environment, mike.redman@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 26416						
Appendices	1. Risk Assessment						
	2. Process for dealing with a petition at council						
Background information	1. Council's petition scheme – report to Council 13 May 2010						

Risk Assessment

Risk description

The risk

Risk

ref.

					1-6					
	If the Council considers the petition in the absence of the wider consultation results, any resultant decision would not be fully informed with the views of the wider public and is likely to be unsound	Mike Redman	19/09/13	4	4	16	Reduce	Council report recommendations		
If the Council does not take the concerns raised in the petition into consideration, it has the potential to undermine confidence in the local democratic process	Mike Redman	19/09/13	3	4	12	Reduce	Council report recommendations		Page	
										 37
	anatom notoo									_

Managing risk

Action

Control

Explanatory notes

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)

Original risk score

Impact

1-5

(impact x likelihood)

Likeli-

hood

Score

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6

Risk

Owner

Date raised

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant, 5 high and 6 a very high probability)

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

Transferred to

risk register

Deadline

Responsible

officer

This page is intentionally left blank Page 38

Appendix 2

Process for dealing with petitions at Council

The following is the recommended process to be followed for the debate of a petition at the Council meeting in accordance with the Council's Petition Scheme. The Council Procedure Rules shall be suspended in so far as necessary to facilitate this process.

1. The Mayor will remind members of the procedure to be followed

2. Statement by the petition organiser

The Mayor will invite the petitioner organiser or their representative to come to the microphone and speak for up to 5 minutes on the petition. There will be no questions and the petition organiser/their representative will take no further part in the proceedings.

3. Clarification on the background information in the officer's report

Members will be invited to ask any questions for clarification as to the facts in the officer's report.

4. Statement by the relevant Cabinet Member

The Cabinet Member whose portfolio is most relevant to the petition will be invited by the Mayor to speak for a maximum of 5 minutes on the subject of the petition. They may wish to refer to the background report from officers circulated with the papers for the meeting.

They may also wish to propose a motion at this point; if so, the motion must be seconded.

5. Debate by members

Where a member has proposed a motion (which is seconded), the usual Rules of Debate (Rule 13) will apply.

If there is no motion, the Mayor will invite any member who wishes to speak on the petition to address Council for up to a maximum of 3 minutes.

When the 15 minutes set aside for the debate (as laid down in the Council's Petition Scheme) is up, the Mayor may decide to extend the time allowed for the debate but will bring it to a close when they feel sufficient time has been allowed.

6. Conclusion of Debate

The debate should conclude with one or more decisions taken pursuant to the Petition Scheme as follows:

- taking the action requested in the petition (provided the matter is reserved to full council for decision)
- referring the matter to Cabinet or an Appropriate Cabinet Member or Committee (including Overview and Scrutiny) for further consideration
- holding an inquiry into the matter
- undertaking research into the matter
- holding a public meeting
- holding a consultation
- holding a meeting with petitioners
- calling a referendum
- writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in the petition
- taking no further action on the matter

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank Page 48